

Canada

Natural Resources Ressources naturelles Canada

GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF CANADA OPEN FILE 8888

Scotian Shelf geoscience information within Network Candidate Sites (NCS) of Fisheries and Oceans Canada

G. Philibert and B.J. Todd

2022





GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF CANADA OPEN FILE 8888

Scotian Shelf geoscience information within Network Candidate Sites (NCS) of Fisheries and Oceans Canada

G. Philibert and B.J. Todd

2022

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as represented by the Minister of Natural Resources, 2022

Information contained in this publication or product may be reproduced, in part or in whole, and by any means, for personal or public non-commercial purposes, without charge or further permission, unless otherwise specified. You are asked to:

- exercise due diligence in ensuring the accuracy of the materials reproduced;
- indicate the complete title of the materials reproduced, and the name of the author organization; and
- indicate that the reproduction is a copy of an official work that is published by Natural Resources Canada (NRCan) and that the reproduction has not been produced in affiliation with, or with the endorsement of, NRCan.

Commercial reproduction and distribution is prohibited except with written permission from NRCan. For more information, contact NRCan at <u>copyright-droitdauteur@nrcan-rncan.gc.ca</u>.

Permanent link: https://doi.org/10.4095/329978

This publication is available for free download through GEOSCAN (https://geoscan.nrcan.gc.ca/).

Recommended citation

Philibert, G. and Todd, B.J., 2022. Scotian Shelf geoscience information within Network Candidate Sites (NCS) of Fisheries and Oceans Canada; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 8888, 27 p. https://doi.org/10.4095/329978

Publications in this series have not been edited; they are released as submitted by the author.

Table of Contents

1.	CONTEXT AND OBJECTIVES	2
2.	STUDY AREA	3
3.	DATA AND METHODS	6
	3.1 Available surficial geology maps	6
	3.2 Available bathymetry, backscatter strength and sidescan sonar information	6
	3.3 Sub-bottom profiles	6
	3.4 Seabed samples	6
4.	RESULTS	7
	4.1 Surficial geology	7
	4.2 Data types	8
	4.3 Sub-bottom profiles and grainsize analyses	12
5.	DISCUSSION	16
	5.1 Relative importance of geoscience data	16
	5.2 Interpretation of the compiled geoscience data	16
	5.3 Polygons with minimum requirements	18
	5.4 NCS polygons with insufficient data	19
6.	CONCLUSION	21
7.	REFERENCES	22

1. CONTEXT AND OBJECTIVES

This study is part of the Marine Geoscience for Marine Spatial Planning (MGMSP) Program which is a Government of Canada initiative focused on improving Impact Assessments and Regulatory Processes (IARP). Natural Resources Canada (NRCan) is one of five departments supporting Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC) and Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) in this initiative. Within NRCan, the Geological Survey of Canada (GSC) provides federal expertise and capacity for the characterization and mapping of seabed conditions. Seafloor mapping and analyses provide a regional framework and baseline information in order to inform regulatory decisions and provide advice on management.

This report addresses the Scotian Shelf Bioregion (SSB), with its extent delimited by DFO (DFO, 2009). Within the SSB, DFO has identified 48 Network Candidate Sites (NCS) which include existing and proposed sites of different size and regulatory intent. This report focuses on geoscience information that can contribute to the broader scientific assessment necessary to evaluate future implementation of the NCS.

The Network Candidate Sites include two Areas of Interest (AOI) (Oceans Act), one National Wildlife Area (NWA) (ECCC), one National Park (Parks Canada Agency), one marine refuge announced in 2018, as well as five existing Oceans Act Marine Protected Areas (MPAs), seven Other Effective Conservation Measures sites (OEM) and 31 additional proposed conservation network sites. NCS may include various protection types (e.g., Oceans Act, Fisheries Act, Canada Wildlife Act, other legislation), which will be determined through further analysis and continued discussion with federal partners, provinces, First Nations, Indigenous groups, stakeholders and coastal communities.

High resolution geoscience data are needed to underpin spatial management analyses and support on-going conservation efforts in the Scotian Shelf Bioregion. The objective of this study is to compile geoscience data from previous studies, identify knowledge gaps, define priorities, and consider strategic surveys for the upcoming years of the Program.

Specifically, the objectives of this study are to:

- Compile existing surficial geology and geomorphology of the seabed within each of the 48 NCS identified by DFO. Information sources include surficial geology maps, single beam and multibeam sonar bathymetry and backscatter strength, sub-bottom profiles, cores and other seabed samples, seabed photographs and videography and grainsize analyses.
- Determine which NCS have sufficient information to undertake a detailed study of seabed conditions.
- Identify key knowledge gaps in areas where new data would be required to undertake an analysis of the surficial geology and seafloor conditions.
- Define priority areas for future marine geoscience expeditions for the remaining years of the MGMSP.

2. STUDY AREA

The Scotian Shelf Bioregion extends from the Gulf of Maine in the southwest to the Laurentian Channel in the northeast and includes the continental shelf and part of the slope and covers over 470,000 km² (Figure 1). To the south, the SSB extends to the lower continental slope approximately 400 to 500 km off Nova Scotia where the seafloor reaches depths of 4000 to 5000 m.

Within the SSB, 48 NCS were defined by DFO (Figure 1). Table 1 lists the NCS along with their status, type and area.



Figure 1: Location map of the study area. The red polygon delimits the Scotian Shelf Bioregion. Blue polygons correspond to NCS of DFO.

Table 1. List of DFO NCS and their characteristics.

NO.	NAME	STATUS	ТҮРЕ	AREA (km ²)
1	Chignecto Bay	Proposed	TBD	408.02
2	John Lusby Marsh National Wildlife Area	Existing	MPA	5.38
3	Musquash Estuary Marine Protected Area	Existing	MPA	7.43
4	Head Harbour, West Isles and The Passages	Proposed	TBD	103.89
5	Long Eddy	Proposed	TBD	34.59
6	Horse Mussel Reefs	Proposed	TBD	625.92
7	Boot Island National Wildlife Area	Existing	NWA	0.89
8	Southern Bight	Proposed	TBD	217.44
9	Machias Seal Island Migratory Bird Sanctuary	Existing	MPA	25.32
10	South Grand Manan	Proposed	TBD	414.41
11	Northern Gulf of Maine	Proposed	TBD	977.77
12	Brier Island	Proposed	TBD	1000.27
13	Chebogue	Proposed	TBD	111.37
14	Western Jordan Basin	Proposed	TBD	559.77
15	Jordan Basin Conservation Area	Existing	OEM	48.92
16	Bon Portage Island	Proposed	TBD	14.01
17	Fundian Channel–Browns Bank	Proposed AOI	AOI	7258.15
18	Georges Bank	Proposed	TBD	718.47
19	Northeast Channel Coral Conservation Area	Existing	OEM	391.00
20	Corsair–Georges Canyons Conservation Area	Existing	OEM	8827.38
21	Roseway Bank	Proposed	TBD	1495.77
22	Port Joli and Surrounding Areas	Proposed	TBD	145.25
23	Kejimkujik Seaside National Park and Historic Site	Existing	NP	1.30
24	LaHave Islands	Proposed	TBD	142.54
25	Pearl Island	Proposed	TBD	82.29
26	Sambro Ledges–Prospect	Proposed	TBD	369.45
27	LaHave Basin	Proposed	TBD	1563.31
28	Sambro Bank Sponge Conservation Area	Existing	OEM	62.49
29	Scotian Gulf	Proposed	TBD	1950.95
30	Central Scotian Slope, Rise and Abyss	Proposed	TBD	18186.22

NO.	NAME	STATUS	ТҮРЕ	AREA (km ²)
31	Western Emerald Bank Conservation Area	Existing	OEM	10224.48
32	Sable Island Bank	Proposed	TBD	1647.51
33	Emerald Basin Sponge Conservation Area	Existing	OEM	196.91
34	North of Emerald Basin Sea Pen Field	Proposed	TBD	260.27
35	Eastern Shore Islands	Proposed AOI	AOI	2133.80
36	Bras d'Or Lakes EBSA	Proposed	TBD	1456.61
37	Canso Ledges–Sugar Harbour Islands	Proposed	TBD	654.96
38	Point Michaud and Basque Islands	Proposed	TBD	54.28
39	Middle Bank–Canso Bank	Proposed	TBD	3939.46
40	The Gully Marine Protected Area	Existing	MPA	2368.25
41	Eastern Canyons	Proposed	SBA	36499.90
42	Bird Islands	Proposed	TBD	11.16
43	Big Glace Bay	Proposed	TBD	5.31
44	St. Anns Bank Marine Protected Area	Existing	MPA	4380.55
45	Misaine Bank and Laurentian Channel	Proposed	TBD	2460.02
46	Eastern Shoal	Proposed	TBD	734.34
47	Lophelia Coral Conservation Area	Existing	OEM	14.80
48	Cold Seeps	Proposed	TBD	2005.16

*MPA is Marine Protected Area; OEM is Other Effective Area-Based Conservation Measures; TBD is to be determined, NWA is National Wildlife Area; NP is National Park, SBA is Sensitive Benthic Area.

3. DATA AND METHODS

3.1 Available surficial geology maps

Information on the geological conditions of the seafloor within the 48 NCS is taken from a literature review. Even though the surficial geology of the seafloor has already been interpreted within the entire SSB as part of previous studies, most of this information was produced at a smaller scale (i.e. a larger area) than what is required for NCS. Indeed, two existing surficial geology maps produced at small scales cover the seafloor of the SSB. A first map extends over the continental shelf (Fader *et al.*, 2004) and a second map covers the continental slope (Piper, 1991). These two maps were combined and updated by Philibert *et al.* (2022) for a bioregional study as part of the MGMSP Program. However, whereas the surficial geological compilation of the bioregion aims to provide an overall picture of the conditions on the seabed, the assessments aim to provide more detailed information in order to answer questions specific to each NCS. Therefore, the maps of Piper (1991), Fader *et al.* (2004) as well as Philibert *et al.* (2022) have not been included in the compilation of available data for the purpose of the present study since they do not provide the horizontal resolution required for NCS. Only large scale (i.e. small area) surficial geology maps that provide higher horizontal resolution than the bioregional compilation of Philibert *et al.* (2022) have been considered here.

3.2 Available bathymetry, backscatter strength and sidescan sonar information

GSC databases, as well as the Canadian Hydrographic Service (CHS) and DFO, provided multibeam sonar bathymetry, backscatter strength information and bathymetric LiDAR from past expeditions. Also included is publicly accessible information such as National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration expeditions (NOAA, 2021) and Canadian Hydrographic Service Non-Navigational Bathymetric data (NONNA 10 and NONNA 100) (CHS, 2018) as well as LiDAR data available from the Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM, 2018) in the Province of Nova Scotia. Although, most of HRM LiDAR data is focussed on land, some of the points on the coast allowed visualization of the shallow coastal waters usually not accessible using multibeam sonar at sea. Moreover, 3D seismic data acquired by the petroleum industry were included (CNSOPB, 2003 and 2013).

All the available hydroacoustic and LiDAR data were displayed in ArcGIS to map the extent of data coverage and to determine overlap with NCS polygons. High-resolution bathymetric data underpin the interpretation of the surficial geology and seabed conditions. Therefore, mapping the coverage of these data identifies knowledge gaps and guides future survey effort. Multibeam sonar backscatter strength data aids in the characterization of surficial sediments. The intensity of the backscatter is a function of the texture, particle size and porosity of the sediments.

3.3 Sub-bottom profiles

All the seismic reflection and sub-bottom profiles within the SSB were retrieved from the publically available GSCA Expedition Database (ED) (<u>https://ed.gdr.nrcan.gc.ca/index_e.php</u>) and mapped in ArcGIS to determine the geophysical information available within each NCS. The data were acquired using a variety of seismic sources and receivers from the 1960s until the present. Seismic reflection and sub-bottom profiles provide information on the internal structure of seabed sediments as well as provide evidence of events that affected sedimentation. Seismic profiles are often used as a complement to multibeam sonar data; the combination of data types enhances the mapping of the distribution of sedimentary units and structures.

3.4 Seabed samples

The inventory of seabed samples are from the Expedition Database. Sample types include piston and gravity cores, grabs, grainsize analyses and seabed photographs. The results are mapped in ArcGIS to determine the sample information available within each NCS.

Grain size analyses are used to classify seabed sediment type (gravel, sand or mud) following the Wentworth size class scheme for clastic sediments (Wentworth, 1922), modified by Folk (1954). Grain size analyses alone are not sufficient to

map the surficial geology as samples are widely distributed within the SSB in general and within the NCS in particular. When combined with other high resolution hydroacoustic and geophysical data, they are useful for confirming or validating interpretations. An inventory of seabed samples (i.e. cores and grabs) within the NCS that have not been analyzed was made to assess the possibility of carrying out additional particle size analyzes. Results of this inventory are given in Section 4.3.

Seabed photographs available within the NCS were extracted from the Expedition Database. This imagery, analysed in conjunction with other high resolution hydroacoustic data and/or sub-bottom profiles, can be used to validate geoscientific interpretations.

4. RESULTS

The available geoscience information is compiled in tables and presented on a series of maps showing the location of the data in relation to the extents of the NCS.

4.1 Surficial geology

The surficial geology maps used for the NCS are from previous GSC publications including Open File reports and formal "A Series" maps. A total of 11 existing surficial geology maps fall within the limits of some of the 48 NCS (Table 2). The areal extent of these maps is shown on Figure 2 along with the location of the NCS polygons.

Number	Area	Reference	
1	Bay of Fundy	Shaw <i>et al.,</i> 2012	
2	Browns Bank	Todd <i>et al.,</i> 2006	
3	Georges Bank	Todd and Valentine, 2015	
4	Liverpool and South Shore of Nova Scotia	King <i>et al.,</i> 2013	
5	South Shore of Nova Scotia	Piper <i>et al.,</i> 1986	
6	Eastern Islands	King, 2018	
7	Bras d'Or Lake and Great Bras d'Or	Shaw and Potter, 2008a, b	
8	St. Anns Bank	King, 2014	
9	The Gully	Cameron <i>et al.,</i> 2008	
10	Mohican Channel	Campbell <i>et al.,</i> 2008	
11	Lower Scotian Slope	Campbell, 2013	

Table 2. List of surficial geology maps in the SSB



Figure 2: Location map of published surficial geology maps within the SSB, highlighted in light brown. The numbers 1 to 11 on these maps correspond to the maps listed in Table 2. The NCS are indicated by blue polygons.

4.2 Data types

The data used for this study include multibeam sonar, backscatter strength, bathymetric LiDAR, LiDAR and sidescan sonar. These data were acquired by GSC, CHS, academia and industry. Twenty-two datasets of various horizontal resolutions underlie some of the NCS. The datasets are listed in Table 3 and their extent is displayed on Figure 3. LiDAR, hydroacoustic data and surficial geology mapping are shown in Figure 4. These types of information are fundamental to assess the state of geoscientific knowledge within the NCS and establishing knowledge gaps.

No	Area	Institution or Author	Type of data	Resolution
1	Bay of Fundy	Geological Survey of Canada	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 1992 - 2009	High
2	Browns Bank	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 1996 - 1997	High
3	Georges Bank	Geological Survey of Canada	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 1999 - 2000	High
4	Mahone Bay and St. Margarets Bay	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Multibeam and Bathy-LiDAR 2005 - 2011	High
5	Halifax Approaches– Prospect	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 1990 - 2002	High
6	Halifax Regional Municipality	Halifax Regional Municipality	LIDAR DEM 2018	High
7	Sheet Harbour	Geological Survey of Canada	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 2003 - 2004	High
8	Chedabucto Bay	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 1996 - 2000	High
9	Bras d'Or Lake	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004	High
10	St. Ann Bank	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry	High
11	Western Upper Scotian Slope	United States Geological Survey	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 2009	High
12	Western Upper Scotian Slope	NOAA (Okeanos Explorer)	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 2019	High
13	Central Scotian Slope	Geological Survey of Canada	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 2000	High
14	Central Scotian Slope	CNSOPB Shelburne Project NS24-S006-003E	3D Seismic 2013	High
15	Western Scotian Slope	Hughes Clark <i>et al.,</i> 1992	Sidescan Sonar	Medium
16	Central Upper Scotian Slope	Marine Geoscience Data System	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 1998	High
17	Lower Scotian Slope	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 2012	High
18	The Gully	Geological Survey of Canada	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 1996, 1997, 1998 and 2000	High
19	Eastern Upper Scotian Slope	CNSOPB Stonehouse Project NS24-E043-002E	3D Seismic 2003	High
20	Eastern Upper Scotian Slope	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 2017	High
21	Laurentian Fan	Geological Survey of Canada	Gridded Multibeam Bathymetry 2006	High
22	Inner Scotian Shelf	Canadian Hydrographic Service	Multibeam, Lidar and Non- Navigational Bathymetric Data	Low to High

Table 3. List of available h	ydroacoustic and	d LiDAR datasets	within the SSB
------------------------------	------------------	------------------	----------------



Figure 3: Location of available data within the study area. The numbers 1 to 21 on these datasets correspond to the datasets listed in Table 3. The NCS are indicated by blue polygons. (Non-Navigational Bathymetric data from CHS (NONNA-10 and NONNA-100; Number 22 in Table 3) are not displayed on this map).



Figure 4: Combined locations of available data and surficial geology maps (brown polygons) within the study area.

4.3 Sub-bottom profiles and grainsize analyses

Figures 5 to 8 show the location of other pertinent data retrieved from the GSC expedition database within the NCS (i.e. sub-bottom profiles, grainsize analyses, seabed photos and videos, sediment cores).



Figure 5: Location of sub-bottom profiles within the study area.



Figure 6: Location of grain size analyses within the study area.



Figure 7: Location of seabed photos and video within the study area.



Figure 8: Location of the sediment cores collected within the study area.

.

5. DISCUSSION

The compilation of the different types of available geoscience data within each of the NCS highlights considerable knowledge gaps on the Scotian Shelf. Many candidate sites have inadequate available geoscience seabed data to support informed management of the seafloor. Therefore, this compilation will serve as a gap analysis useful in determining priorities for geoscience data acquisition on the Scotian Shelf.

5.1 Relative importance of geoscience data

Geoscience data employed in the creation of seabed surficial geology maps includes 1) single point information, such as grain size samples or seabed photographs; 2) linear information such as a seismic reflection profiles or seabed video transects; and 3) areal coverage information such as multibeam sonar bathymetry and/or backscatter strength, sidescan sonar data and bathymetric LiDAR. Of highest relative importance is multibeam sonar bathymetry and bathymetric LiDAR data which provide a three-dimensional image of seabed morphology; this information underpins surficial geology interpretations. The associated backscatter strength provides insight into the seafloor texture and sediment type. In practice, backscatter strength is often sufficient to create a preliminary surficial geology map. Other geoscience data are then employed to refine the boundaries between seabed geological units. Bathymetry and backscatter strength are the most powerful tools in the geological toolkit. Where multibeam sonar data are not available, it is more challenging to create a seabed surficial geological map because point and linear geoscience data have a limited spatial context. These data types are usually spaced far apart on the seabed forcing the geological mapper to interpolate between observations. In best practice, government, academic and industry seabed geological maps are based on the highest possible resolution multibeam sonar bathymetric and backscatter data. Maps created without this information are considered incomplete.

Sub-bottom profiles provide geoscientific information about the third dimension of a surficial geology map, that is, the sediments below the seabed. When interpreted, seismic profiles are considered in conjunction with the two-dimensional plan view of the seabed revealed through multibeam sonar bathymetry and backscatter strength, interpolation of seabed geological boundaries and sub-seabed geology is enhanced. The grid spacing is dependent on the scale of mapping being undertaken. For a very small area, the grid spacing may be 100 m or less, while regional surveys often have grid lines spaced by kilometres.

Most of the legacy seismic reflection profiles held by the GSC were not collected in a grid pattern because these lines predate the advent and wide adoption of multibeam sonar. Legacy survey lines were most often designed to "chase" specific or suspected geological features of interest on the seabed and in the subsurface, thus after many decades a distinctly disorganized survey line pattern, at least to the modern eye, has emerged. Fortuitously, the present best practice of first surveying a seabed area of interest with multibeam sonar has breathed new life into legacy seismic data. Careful inspection of these legacy lines in conjunction with modern multibeam sonar data allows new and improved geological interpretations. The legacy lines often provide the basis of new, gridded survey lines designed to maximize the gain of subsurface knowledge with a minimum number of survey lines.

Seabed samples (and subsequent analyses of their grain size) combined with seabed photographs and video provide groundtruth geoscience information to support the geological interpretation principally derived from multibeam sonar and seismic data. The groundthruthing via seabed samples and videos helps to identify the precise surficial geology units observed on multibeam sonar and backscatter strength maps.

5.2 Interpretation of the compiled geoscience data

Based on the type and availability of geoscience data within the limits of the NCS, we determined whether the NCS have sufficient publically available data to enable a geologically viable study of the seafloor conditions. This is based primarily on the coverage of high-resolution LiDAR, hydroacoustic data and/or detailed surficial geology maps within each of the NCS as these two types of data provide key information to assess seabed conditions. A four-colour code was established to characterize the feasibility of geologically viable mapping.

• Green: Corresponds to the NCS that are completely covered by high-resolution data and/or detailed surficial geology maps. Some have already been the subject of past studies and are completely interpreted. Some are

partially interpreted, but would benefit from high-resolution surveying that would enable the completion of previous studies. Some NCS are entirely covered by high-resolution data but have not been geologically interpreted.

- Yellow: Corresponds to the NCS where high-resolution data and/or detailed surficial geology maps are available for more than 50% of the area. Therefore, geological mapping would remain incomplete until new high-resolution surveys were undertaken.
- Orange: Corresponds to NCS where publically available geoscience data are insufficient, either because they are of a low resolution or they cover less than 50% of the areal extent of the NCS
- Red: Corresponds to the NCS where no publically available data and surficial geology data are currently available within their limits. These areas would require extensive surveys in order to create geological maps.

The compilation of high-resolution data and detailed surficial geology maps within each of the NCS polygons and whether the data meet the minimum requirement for surficial geology mapping is discussed in the following sections 5.3 and 5.4. Figure 9 shows the assigned colour for each polygon.



Figure 9: NCS polygons and their assigned colour according to the type, resolution and coverage of geoscience data available within their limits.

5.3 Polygons with minimum requirements

Analysis of the data compilation reveals that of the 48 NCS polygons identified by DFO, 23 appear to have minimum geoscience data requirements to create a geological map either on the entire NCS area or \geq 50% of the area. Of those 23 polygons, 9 are entirely covered by high resolution data (green polygons, Figure 9) and 14 have high resolution data or surficial geology available on more than 50% of the area but do not cover the entire area (yellow polygons, Figure 9).

Some of the NCS polygons are located within the boundaries of existing studies and thus have been mapped either partially or entirely at a detailed resolution. In some cases, no further data have been acquired since these studies were conducted. In other cases, new data have been acquired since the publication of these past studies. Therefore, the geological interpretation could be refined or extended. A brief description of these NCS with available surficial geology data and the reference to the associated maps and studies is provided below. These NCS polygons are described below and located on Figure 9.

5.3.1 NCS polygons with complete data coverage (green polygons)

- Three polygons are located in the Bay of Fundy and are fully covered by the interpretation of Shaw *et al.* (2012). These polygons are Head Harbour, West Isles and the Passages (Number 4, Figure 9), Long Eddy (Number 5, Figure 9) and Horse Mussel Reef (Number 6, Figure 9).
- The Georges Bank NCS (Number 18, Figure 9) is entirely located within the limits of the Todd and Valentine (2015) surficial geology and geomorphology map which already provides a good level of detail.
- The Northeast Channel Coral Conservation Area (Number 19, Figure 9) is entirely covered by high resolution multibeam data collected by NOAA onboard the *Okeanos Explorer* (2019) and by the GSC (Georges Bank 1999-2000) (Todd, 2013; Todd and Courtney, 2014). The Corsair–Georges Canyon Conservation Area (Number 20, Figure 9) is also covered by multibeam sonar data acquired by USGS onboard the *Ron Brown* (USGS, 2009), as well as multibeam sonar from CHS (2012) and sidescan from Hughes Clarke *et al.* (1992). In both NCS, a few seismic profiles, cores and grainsize analyses are available to validate the interpretation.
- The Bras d'Or Lake EBSA (Number 36, Figure 9) has been the subject of past studies and is entirely located within the limit of the Shaw and Potter (2008a, b) surficial geology map of Bras d'Or Lake (Shaw and Potter, 2007a, b, c, d).
- The Gully Marine Protected Area (Number 40, Figure 9) has almost entirely (> 79%) been interpreted at a high level of detail by Cameron *et al.* (2008). Their interpretation could be extended to the rest of the polygon using available multibeam sonar data.
- Lophelia Coral Conservation Area (Number 47, Figure 9) is entirely covered by multibeam and backscatter data (CHS, 2017). A few seismic profiles, a core and camera footage are also available to validate the interpretation.

5.3.2 NCS polygons with \geq 50% data coverage (yellow polygons)

- Three NCS polygons are located in the Bay of Fundy and are partially covered by the interpretation of Shaw *et al.* (2012). These polygons are Musquash Estuary Marine Protected Area (85%) (Number 3, Figure 9), South Grand Manan (66%) (Number 10, Figure 9) and Brier Island (55%) (Number 12, Figure 9). The interpretation potentially could be extended to the rest of the polygon using shaded seafloor relief images (based on OLEX license held by GSCA), seismic profiles and other seabed samples. However, the resolution would be inferior to Shaw *et al.* (2012) unless new multibeam sonar bathymetric data is acquired to complete the data coverage within these NCS polygons.
- Chebogue (Number 13, Figure 9) and Bon Portage Island (Number 16, Figure 9) are both entirely covered by a
 combination of NONNA 10 and NONNA 100 data from CHS as well as Olex single beam shaded relief. However,
 these data are of variable resolutions. Therefore, the areas covered by NONNA 10 bathymetric data benefit from

a greater resolution then the areas covered by NONNA 100 and Olex. Furthermore, neither of these two polygons have any seismic profiles or seabed samples within their boundaries to enable validation of the interpretation.

- The Fundian Channel–Brown Banks NCS (Number 17, Figure 9) is partially mapped by Todd *et al.* (2006) who interpreted with a high level of detail the surficial geology of Brown Banks. The Todd *et al.* (2006) interpretation could potentially be extended in certain areas of the polygon, notably on the shelf break in the upper slope where new multibeam sonar bathymetric data were collected by NOAA onboard the *Okeanos Explorer* in 2019. However, most of the Fundian Channel is lacking high resolution surveys so any surficial geology interpretation would be of a lower resolution in this area of the polygon unless more data are acquired.
- Two polygons of interest (i.e. Port Joli and Surrounding Areas (Number 22, Figure 9) and LaHave Islands (Number 24, Figure 9) are located within the interpretation of Piper *et al.* (1986) along the South Shore of Nova Scotia. The Port Joli and Surrounding Areas polygon is partly covered by NONNA 10 and NONNA 100 data from DFO and the LaHave Islands polygon is also partially covered by NONNA 100 which could enable the improvement of Piper's (1986) map.
- The surficial geology of Pearl Island (Number 25, Figure 9) and Sambro Ledges–Prospect (Number 26, Figure 9) are covered to 90% and 100% respectively by multibeam sonar and bathy-LiDAR data from CHS which, combined with the seismic profiles and seabed samples, could enable mapping the surficial geology.
- The Central Scotian Slope, Rise and Abyss (Number 30, Figure 9) NCS is located within the limits of different existing maps. The upper section of the polygon close to the shelf break intersects with the Campbell *et al.* (2008) map of the Mohican Channel area and the lower slope has been mapped by Campbell (2013) as part of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) program. The interpretation potentially could be extended to the middle section of the polygon using industry 3D Seismic (CNSOPB, 2013) as well as sidescan data from Hughes Clarke *et al.* (1992).
- The Eastern Shore Islands NCS (Number 35, Figure 9) is mapped over most of its area by King (2018). King's interpretation could be extended west and closer to the shoreline using new multibeam sonar and bathy-LiDAR data acquired by CHS as well as NONNA 10 and 100 data.
- The Eastern Canyons NCS (Number 41, Figure 9) intersects with Campbell (2013) map in the mid to lower slope section of the polygon. The surface geology interpretation could be extended to a section in the upper slope below the shelf break using multibeam sonar bathymetric data from GSC (Laurentian Fan 2006). However, 30% of the polygon's area is not covered by any data and therefore, would remain unmapped.
- The polygon of St. Anns Bank Marine Protected Area (Number 44, Figure 9) is covered over 37% of its extent by the King (2014) surficial geology map. King's interpretation could be extended using CHS's NONNA 100 data so that the surficial geology interpretation would cover 50% of the polygon's area. Unless new additional data are collected, the interpretation could not be extended to more then half of the polygon.

5.4 NCS polygons with insufficient data

Analyses of the data compilation revealed that for 25 polygons of interest, the currently available geoscience data either do not exist or are insufficient to enable a high-resolution mapping and study of the seabed conditions. Therefore, unless new data are acquired within these polygons, no further analysis can be conducted. Within these polygons, no surficial geology and/or high-resolution data are available or these data are available only over a small area (less than 50%) and where linear and point data are too sparse to undertake detailed mapping. These polygons are displayed on Figure 9 along with the coverage of existing surficial geology maps and datasets. Figure 9 clearly highlights the knowledge gaps and shows that most of these polygons are located in shallow water close to the coast where surveys are more challenging to perform and on the shelf, notably the eastern portion.

Of these 25 polygons, 15 correspond to areas where currently available data are insufficient, either because they are of a low resolution or they cover less than 50% of their area (orange polygons, Figure 9) and 10 have no data or surficial geology data currently available within their limits (red polygons, Figure 9).

5.4.1 NCS polygons with < 50% data coverage (orange polygons)

- Chignecto Bay (Number 1, Figure 9)
- Southern Bight (Number 8, Figure 9)
- Northern Gulf of Maine (Number 11, Figure 9)
- Jordan Basin Conservation Area (Number 14, Figure 9)
- Western Jordan Basin (Number 15, Figure 9)
- Roseway Bank (Number 21, Figure 9)
- LaHave Basin (Number 27, Figure 9)
- Sambro Bank Sponge Conservation Area (Number 28, Figure 9)
- Scotian Gulf (Number 29, Figure 9)
- Western Emerald Bank Conservation Area (Number 31, Figure 9)
- Sable Island Bank (Number 32, Figure 9)
- North of Emerald Basin Sea Pen Field (Number 34, Figure 9)
- Canso Ledges–Sugar Harbour Islands (Number 37, Figure 9)
- Middle Bank–Canso Bank (Number 39, Figure 9)
- Cold Seeps (Number 48, Figure 9)

5.4.2 NCS polygons with no data (red polygons)

- John Lusby Marsh National Wildlife Area (Number 2, Figure 9)
- Boot Island National Wildlife Area (Number 7, Figure 9)
- Machias Seal Island Migratory Bird Sanctuary (Number 9, Figure 9)
- Kejimkujik Seaside National Park and Historic Site (Number 23, Figure 9)
- Emerald Basin Sponge Conservation Area (Number 33, Figure 9)
- Point Michaud and Basque Islands (Number 38, Figure 9)
- Bird Islands (Number 42, Figure 9)
- Big Glace Bay (Number 43, Figure 9)
- Misaine Bank and Laurentian Channel (Number 45, Figure 9)
- Eastern Shoal (Number 46, Figure 9)

6. CONCLUSION

- A compilation of the different types of available geoscience data within each of the 48 NCS identified by DFO was conducted. The data compiled include surficial geology maps, single beam and multibeam sonar bathymetry and backscatter strength, LiDAR, sub-bottom profiles, cores and other seabed samples, seabed photograph and videography and grainsize analyses.
- This compilation is the preliminary step to the future NCS assessments planned within the MGMSP. The compilation highlights knowledge gaps and therefore provides a tool to determine priorities for future geoscience data acquisition within the Program.
- The results indicate that some NCS have little associated geoscience data and therefore limited seabed knowledge. Characterization of seafloor conditions in these NCS would require the collection of new geoscience information. Despite a significant data gap in the bioregion, some NCS would only require a minimal survey effort to extend the coverage of high resolution data for complete mapping.
- The compilation revealed that of the 48 NCS :
 - 9 have already been the subject of past studies and are entirely covered either by detailed surficial geology maps and/or high resolution data;
 - 14 appear to have the minimum geoscience data requirements to create a geological map on 50% or more of their area;
 - 15 correspond to areas where currently available data are insufficient to create a geological map, either because they are of a low resolution or they cover less than 50% of their area;
 - 10 have no data or surficial geology data currently available within their limits, therefore these areas would require extensive surveys in order to perform a detailed geological study.
- It is important to note that the analyses described in this report correspond to the minimum requirement to study NCS. In addition to the standard analyses described above, new technologies are now allowing for more detailed assessments. In some cases, data acquisition beyond the minimum requirement could be necessary in order to answer specific questions. For example, the use of autonomous underwater vehicles (AUV) (Campbell and Normandeau, 2019) can image features on the seafloor to a higher horizontal and vertical resolution than using conventional hull-mounted multibeam sonar systems. In addition, repeat seafloor mapping in some areas would provide information on seafloor dynamics, which a single multibeam sonar map cannot do.

7. REFERENCES

Barnes, N.E., and Piper, D.J.W., 1978. Late Quaternary geological history of Mahone Bay, Nova Scotia; Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, v. 15, p. 586–593.

Brown, C.J., Todd, B.J., Kostylev, V.E., and Pickrill, R.A., 2011. Image-based classification of multibeam sonar backscatter data for objective surficial sediment mapping of Georges Bank, Canada; Continental Shelf Research, v. 31, S110–S119.

Cameron, G.D.M., and King, E.L., 2010. Quaternary geology of the Laurentian Channel and the southwestern Grand Banks of Newfoundland; Geological Survey of Canada, Open file 6451, 1 CD-Rom.

Cameron, G. D. M., and King, E. L., 2008. Seafloor-slope analysis, The Gully, Scotian Shelf, offshore eastern Canada; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2121A, 1 sheet.

Cameron, G. D. M., and King, E. L., 2008. Sun-illuminated seafloor topography, The Gully, Scotian Shelf, offshore eastern Canada; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2122A, 1 sheet.

Cameron, G.D.M., King, E.L., and Campbell, D. C., 2008. Surficial geology and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, The Gully, Scotian Shelf, offshore Eastern Canada; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2123A, 1 sheet.

Campbell, D.C., 2013. Geological justification for foot-of-slope points for the *Nova Scotia Margin*; Canada's submission to the United Nations Convention of the Law of the Sea for the Atlantic Margin, Confidential report submitted to the United Nations.

Campbell, D. C., and Normandeau, A., 2019. CCGS Hudson Expedition 2018-041: high-resolution investigation of deepwater seabed seeps and landslides along the Scotian Slope, offshore Nova Scotia, May 26 - June 15 2018; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 8567, 66 pages.

Campbell, D.C., Piper, D.J.W., Mosher, D.C., and Jenner, K.A., 2008a. Surficial geology and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Mohican channel, Scotian Slope, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2127A, 1 sheet.

Campbell, D.C., Piper, D.J.W., Mosher, D.C., and Jenner, K.A., 2008b. Surficial geology and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Logan Canyon, Scotian Slope, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2129A, 1 sheet.

Campbell, D.C., Piper, D.J.W., Mosher, D.C., and Jenner, K.A., 2008c. Surficial geology and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Verrill Canyon, Scotian Slope, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2128A, 1 sheet.

Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board (CNSOPB)., 2003. Project NS24-E043-002E, 3D Seismic Survey Stonehouse Prospect.

Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Board (CNSOPB)., 2013. Project NS24-S006-003E, 3D WAZ Seismic Program Shelburne Basin.

Canadian Hydrographic Service., 2018. Canadian Hydrographic Service Non-Navigational (NONNA) Bathymetric Data; Fisheries and Oceans Canada. <<u>https://open.canada.ca/data/en/dataset/d3881c4c-650d-4070-bf9b-1e00aabf0a1d</u>> [accessed January, 2021].

Courtney, R.C., 1993. Inner Scotian Shelf off Halifax: EM100 swath bathymetry; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 2803, 1 sheet.

DFO., 2009. Development of a Framework and Principles for the Biogeographic Classification of Canadian Marine Areas; Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat, Science Advisory Report 2009/056.

Drapeau, G., and King, L.H., 1972. Surficial geology of the Yarmouth to Browns Bank map area; Marine Science Paper 2, Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 72–24, 6 p.

Fader, G.B., 1984. A geophysical survey of the Georges Bank, Georges Basin and Northeast Channel area of the Gulf of Maine; Geonautics Ltd and Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 978, 375 p., (21 sheets).

Fader, G.B J., and Miller, R.O., 2008. Surficial geology, Halifax Harbour, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Bulletin no. 590, 176 p., 1 CD-ROM.

Fader, G.B.J., King, L.H., and MacLean, B., 1977. Surficial geology of the Eastern Gulf of Maine and Bay of Fundy; Marine Science Paper, n. 19, 23 p. (Also Geological Survey of Canada Paper 76–17).

Fader, G.B.J., King, L.H., and Josenhans, H.W., 1982. Surficial geology of the Laurentian channel and the western Grand Banks of Newfoundland; Marine Science Paper, n. 21, 37 p. (Also Geological Survey of Canada Paper 81–22) (1 sheet).

Fader, G.B. J., King, E., Gillespie, R., and King, L.H., 1988. Surficial geology: Georges Bank, Browns Bank and the southeastern Gulf of Maine; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 1692, 3 maps.

Fader, G.B.J., Lynds, T., Miller, R.O., Parrott, D.R., Hynes, S., and Sherin, A., 2004. Scotian Shelf regional surficial geology compilation; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 4671, 7 maps.

GEBCO., 2021. GEBCO 2021 Grid, <https://www.gebco.net/data_and_products/gridded_bathymetry_data/gebco_2021> [accessed Januray, 2022].

GeoNova., 2021. Data Locator – Elevation Explorer, LiDAR DEM; Province of Nova Scotia, <https://nsgi.novascotia.ca/datalocator/elevation/> [accessed February, 2022].

Halifax Regional Municipality., 2018. Open Data Files, LiDAR DEM 2m; <<u>https://www.halifax.ca/home/open-data/open-data/open-data-files</u>>[accessed January, 2020].

Hughes Clarke, J.E., O'Leary, D.W., and Piper, D.J.W., 1992. Western Nova Scotia continental rise: relative importance of mass wasting and deep boundary-current activity; in Geologic Evolution of Atlantic Continental Rises, (Eds.) C.W. Poag and P.C. de Graciansky, p. 266–281.

King, L.H., 1970. Surficial geology of the Halifax–Sable Island map area; Geological Survey of Canada, Marine Science Paper 1, 16 pages.

King, E.L., 2014. Seascapes of St. Ann's Bank and adjoining area off Cape Breton, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 7114, 2 sheets.

King, E.L., 2018. Surficial geology and features of the inner shelf of eastern shore, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 8375, 41 p. (1 sheet).

King, E. L., and Beaver, D., 2017. Backscatter strength and shaded seafloor relief, Lunenburg Bay, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 8176, 1 sheet.

King, E. L., and Beaver, D., 2017. Multibeam bathymetry and shaded seafloor relief, Lunenburg Bay, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 8177, 1 sheet.

King, E.L., Brown, O., Chapman, C.B., Cameron, G.D.M., Fraser, P., Girouard, P., MacKinnon, W., Piper, D.J.W., and Uyesugi, M., 2005. Hudson 2005023 cruise report: geological investigations in Northeast Channel and the adjacent slope, Scotian Shelf; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 5058, 94 p., 1 CD-ROM.

King, E.L., Fader, G.B.J., Lynds, T., Hynes, S., and Miller, R.O., 2013. Blue Atlantic Pipeline Corridor Geologic Constraints, Scotian Shelf: Desktop Study; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 7147, 82 p.

King, E.L., Hynes, S., and Cameron, G.D.M., 2017. Geology and shaded seafloor relief, Lunenburg Bay, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 8138, 1 sheet.

King, E. L., Boggild, K., Broom, L., Campbell, L., Fralic, T., Greaves, C., Ingham, P., Manning, D., Nissen, G., Pledge, P., Robertson, A., and Todd, B. J., 2022. Research Vessel CCGS Hudson Expedition 2021126, July 22 to 27, 2021: glacial fan stratigraphy and sediment stability on the southwestern Scotian Slope, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 8829, 97 p.

Kostylev, V.E., Todd, B.J., Fader, G.B.J., Courtney, R.C., Cameron, G.D.M., and Pickrill, R A., 2001. Benthic habitat mapping on the Scotian Shelf based on multibeam bathymetry, surficial geology and sea floor photographs; Marine Ecology Progress Series, v. 219, p. 121–137.

Li, M.Z., Shaw, J., Todd, B.J., Kostylev, V.E., and Wu, Y., 2014. Sediment transport and development of banner banks and sandwaves in an extreme tidal system: upper Bay of Fundy, Canada; Continental Shelf Research, n. 83, p. 86–107.

MacLean, B., and King, L.H., 1971. Surficial geology of the Banquereau and Misaine Bank map area; Marine Sciences, Paper 3, Geological Survey of Canada Paper 71–52, 19 p. (1 sheet).

MacLean, B., Fader, G.B.J., and King, L.H., 1977. Surficial geology of Canso Bank and adjacent areas; Marine Science Paper 20, Geological Survey of Canada Paper 76–15, 11 p. (1 sheet).

Marine Geoscience Data System (MGDS)., 1998. Multibeam collection for EW9806: Multibeam data collected aboard Maurice Ewing from 02-Jul-98 to 13-Aug-98, Halifax, Canada to Halifax, Canada; NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/ships/maurice_ewing/EW9806_mb.html, [accessed January 2020].

Marine Geoscience Data System (MGDS)., 1998. Multibeam collection for EW9805: Multibeam data collected aboard Maurice Ewing from 16-May-98 to 01-Jul-98, Halifax, Canada to Halifax, Canada; NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/ships/maurice_ewing/EW9805_mb.html, [accessed January 2020].

Mosher. D.C., Piper, D.J.W., Campbell, D.C., and Jenner, K.A., 2004. Near-surface geology and sediment-failure geohazards of the central Scotian Slope; AAPG Bulletin, v. 88, n. 6, p. 703-723.

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)., 2019. Multibeam collection for EX1905L1: Multibeam data collected aboard NOAA Ship OKEANOS EXPLORER (R337) from 06-Aug-19 to 20-Aug-19, North Kingstown, Rhode Island to Halifax, Nova Scotia; NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information, https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/ships/okeanos_explorer/EX1905L1.

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)., 2021. National Centers for Environmental Information, Bathymetric Data Viewer. https://maps.ngdc.noaa.gov/viewers/bathymetry/ [accessed January, 2021].

Normandeau, A., Piper, D.J.W., Shaw, J., Todd, B.J., Campbell, D.C., and Mosher, D.C., 2020. The seafloor of southeastern Canada; *in* Landscapes and Landforms of Eastern Canada, (Eds.) Slaymaker, O. and Catto, N., Springer, p. 453–471.

Parrott, D. R., Todd, B. J., Shaw, J., MacGowan, B., Lamplugh, M., Griffin, J., Hughes Clarke, J. E., and Webster, T., 2009. Shaded seafloor relief, Bay of Fundy, offshore Nova Scotia / New Brunswick ; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 5834, 1 sheet.

Philibert, G., Todd, B.J., Campbell, D.C., King, E.L., Normandeau, A., Hayward, S.E., Patton, E. R., and Campbell, L., 2022. Updated surficial geology compilation of the Scotian Shelf Bioregion, offshore Nova Scotia and New

Brunswick, Canada; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File in revision.

Piper, D.J.W., 1978. Geology of coastal bays in Labrador and Nova Scotia; Progress report to the Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Research Agreement 113–4–78, 61 p.

Piper, D.J.W., 1979. Coastal geological studies, Nova Scotia and Labrador, 1978-1979; Progress report to the Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Research Agreement 147–4–79, 26 p.

Piper, D.J.W., 1991. Surficial geology and physical properties 6: deep water surficial geology; *in* Scotian Shelf, (Eds.) Ross, D. I., Lewis, C. F. M., Howie, R. D., Cant, D. and Bates, J. L., Geological Survey of Canada, East Coast Basin Atlas Series 1991 p. 121, 1 sheet.

Piper, D.J.W., and Keen, M.J., 1976. Geological Studies in St. Margaret's Bay, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 76–18, 18 p.

Piper, D.J.W., and Campbell, D.C., 2002. Surficial geology of the Scotian Slope, eastern Canada; Geological Survey of Canada, Current Research 2002- E15, 10 p.

Piper, D.J.W., Mudie, P.J., Letson, J.R.J., Barnes, N.E., and Iuliucci, R.J., 1986. The Marine geology of the inner Scotian Shelf off the south shore, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Paper 85–19, 65 p.

Piper, D.J.W., Cameron, G.D.M., and Best, M.A., 1988. Quaternary geology of the Continental Margin of Eastern Canada; Geological Survey of Canada, Map 1711A, scale 1: 5 000 000.

Shaw, J., and Potter, D.P., 2007a. Backscatter strength and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Bras d'Or Lake, Cape Breton Island, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2100A, 1 sheet.

Shaw, J., and Potter, D.P., 2007b. Backscatter strength and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Great Bras d'Or, Cape Breton Island, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2099A, 1 sheet.

Shaw, J., and Potter, D.P., 2007c. Sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Bras d'Or Lake, Cape Breton Island, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2098A, 1 sheet.

Shaw, J., and Potter, D.P., 2007d. Sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Great Bras d'Or, Cape Breton Island, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2097A, 1 sheet.

Shaw, J., and Potter, D.P., 2008a. Surficial geology and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Bras d'Or Lake, Cape Breton Island, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2115A, 1 sheet.

Shaw, J., and Potter, D.P., 2008b. Surficial geology and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Great Bras d'Or, Cape Breton Island, Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2116A, 1 sheet.

Shaw, J., Todd, B.J., and Li, M.Z., 2012. Seascapes, Bay of Fundy, offshore Nova Scotia/New Brunswick; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 7028, 1 sheet.

Todd, B.J., 1999. Browns Bank survey 1998: cruise report and scientific results; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 3666, 91 p. 8 CD-ROMs.

Todd, B.J., 2005. Morphology and composition of submarine barchan dunes on the Scotian Shelf, Canadian Atlantic margin; Geomorphology, v. 67, p. 487–500.

Todd, B.J., 2007a. Backscatter strenght and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, German Bank, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2106A, 3 sheets.

Todd, B.J., 2007b. Sun-illuminated seafloor topography, German Bank, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2107A, 3 sheets.

Todd, B.J., 2009. Surficial geology and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, German Bank, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2148A, 3 sheets.

Todd, B.J., 2013. Shaded seafloor relief, Georges Bank, Fundian Channel, and Northeast Channel, Gulf of Maine; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 5896, 1 sheet.

Todd, B.J., and Shaw, J., 2006. Sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Browns Bank, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2086A, 1 sheet.

Todd, B.J., and Valentine, P.C., 2010. Shaded seafloor relief, backscatter strength and surficial geology, German Bank, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 6124, 3 sheets.

Todd, B.J., and Shaw, J., 2012. Laurentide Ice Sheet dynamics in the Bay of Fundy, Canada, revealed through multibeam sonar mapping of glacial landsystems; Quaternary Science Reviews, v. 58, p.83-103.

Todd, B.J., and Valentine, P.C., 2012. Large submarine sand waves and gravel lag substrates on Georges Bank off Atlantic Canada; *in* Seafloor Geomorphology as Benthic Habitat, (Eds.) Harris, P. and Baker, E., p. 261–275.

Todd, B.J., and Courtney, R.C., 2014. Backscatter strength and shaded seafloor relief, Georges Bank, Fundian Channel and Northeast Channel, Gulf of Maine; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 7243, 9 sheets.

Todd, B.J., and Valentine, P.C., 2015. Surficial geology and shaded seafloor relief, Georges Bank, Fundian Channel, and Northeast Channel, Gulf of Maine; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 7657, 1 sheet.

Todd, B.J., Fader, G.B J., Courtney, R.C., and Pickrill, R.A., 1999. Quaternary geology and surficial sediment processes, Browns Bank, Scotian Shelf, based on multibeam bathymetry; Marine Geology, v. 162, p. 165–214.

Todd, B.J., Boyce, A.A., Chapman, C.B., Kostylev, V.E., Rainey, W.A., Spencer, P.L., and Uyesugi, M.S., 2001. Expedition report 2000-047: CCGS *Hudson*, southern Scotian Shelf; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 3911, 93 p., 12 CD-ROMs.

Todd, B.J., Valentine, P.C., Kostylev, V.E., and Pickrill, R.A., 2001. Habitat mapping of the Gulf of Maine; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 3995, 1 sheet.

Todd, B.J., Shaw, J., and Courtney, R.C., 2006. Backscatter strength and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Browns Bank, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2085A, 1 sheet.

Todd, B.J. Fader, G.B.J., and Shaw, J., 2006. Surficial geology and sun-illuminated seafloor topography, Browns Bank, Scotian Shelf, offshore Nova Scotia; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2093A, 1 sheet.

Todd, B. J., Shaw, J., Parrott, D. R., Hughes Clarke, J. E., Cartwright, D., and Hayward, S. E., 2011. Backscatter strength and shaded seafloor relief, Bay of Fundy, sheets 1-17, offshore Nova Scotia - New Brunswick ; Geological Survey of Canada, Open File 7008-7024, 17 sheets.

Todd, B. J., Shaw, J., and Parrott, D. R., 2011. Shaded seafloor relief, Bay of Fundy, sheets 1-17, offshore Nova Scotia - New Brunswick; Geological Survey of Canada, "A" Series Map 2174A-2190A, 17 sheets.

Todd, B.J., Shaw, J., and Valentine, P.C., 2016. Submarine glacial landforms on the Bay of Fundy–northern Gulf of Maine continental shelf; *in* Atlas of Submarine Glacial Landforms: Modern, Quaternary and Ancient, (Eds.) Dowdeswell, J.A., Canals, M., Jakobsson, M., Todd, B.J., Dowdeswell, E.K., Hogan, K.A., Geological Society Memoir n. 46, p. 429–436.

United States Geological Survey (USGS)., 2009. Multibeam collection for RB0904: Multibeam data collected aboard NOAA Ship RONALD H. BROWN (R104) from 16-May-09 to 24-May-09, None to None; NOAA, National Centers for Environmental Information, https://www.ngdc.noaa.gov/ships/ronald_h_brown/RB0904_mb.html, [accessed January 2020].

Wade, J.A., 1990. The stratigraphy of Georges Bank Basin and relationships to the Scotian Basin; *in* Chapter 5 of Geology of the Continental Margin of Eastern Canada, (Eds.) Keen, M.J. and Williams, G.L., Geological Survey of Canada, Geology of Canada Series n. 2, p. 171–190.

Wentworth, C.K., 1922. A scale of grade and class terms for clastic sediments; Journal of Geology, v. 30, p. 377–392.